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          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY: Good morning.

          3  This morning I should like to invite us all to focus

          4  our attention once more on the Mayor's Citizenship

          5  Initiative, entitled, "Citizenship: New York City."

          6  Invited to testify at this hearing, Violet Mitchell,

          7  Acting Commissioner of the New York City Department

          8  of Youth and Community Development, Carlton

          9  Mitchell, Deputy Commissioner of DYCD, Ileana

         10  Carbonell, Director of Citizenship New York City,

         11  and representatives from various immigrant advocacy

         12  groups.

         13                 This is an issue that we have

         14  revisited before, and this is, I think the second or

         15  the third in its series.  We are reminded that in

         16  May of 1997, Mayor Giuliani announced the

         17  implementation of the Citizenship New York City

         18  Immigrant Naturalization Initiative, entitled,

         19   "Citizenship: New York City." The initiative placed

         20  its first priority on assisting the elderly and the

         21  disabled immigrants at risk of losing federal

         22  benefits.  In addition, the initiative sought to

         23  have immigrants process applications in a timely

         24  manner, increase support services to immigrants, to

         25  facilitate the application process and to attract
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          2  naturalization applicants throughout the process,

          3  until their establishment of US citizenship.

          4                 However, with the restoration of some

          5  benefits to the elderly and the disabled, in the

          6  Summer of 1997, and subsequently 1998, a food stamps

          7  benefits, the initial target population for

          8  Citizenship New York City would have to change.

          9  During a Subcommittee hearing on October 30th, 1997,

         10  the former Commissioner of the Department of Youth

         11  and Community Development, Martin Oesterreich,

         12  testified that, "the policy shifts led Citizenship

         13  New York City to reshift its focus on several

         14  occasions to prioritize its efforts to have those

         15  most in need."  The Commissioner also stated that

         16  Citizenship New York City had implemented new

         17  programs, such as, Homebound Naturalization Program,

         18  expanded services to have young people apply for

         19  naturalization via their parents, and spearheaded an

         20  outreach strategy for assisting immigrants whose SSI

         21  eligibility was not restored by the Budget

         22  Reconciliation Act of 1997.  However, since the

         23  implementation of Citizenship New York City, there

         24  have been some reports and questions about its

         25  effectiveness.   An article appearing in the New
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          2  York Daily News, dated October 27th, 1997, claimed

          3  that many of the programs' field offices had very

          4  little activity during their observations.

          5                 Today's hearing will re- examine how

          6  Citizenship New York City is conducting its outreach

          7  programs and whether or not it has been helping the

          8  thousands of immigrants in New York City master the

          9  intricacies of the new immigration laws?

         10                 Again, I should like to welcome you

         11  to this hearing. Before we introduce our first

         12  presenter or speaker, I should like, also, to

         13  welcome and introduce, or re- introduce, some

         14  introduced to others.  Mr. Carl Smith, who is the

         15  Counsel to this Subcommittee on Immigration.  A new

         16  addition to the staff is Mr. Rick Arbelo, who is the

         17  new Policy Analyst.  Carmine Filocamo, he is a

         18  Sergeant- At Arms, always helpful, and also,

         19  Catherine Hicks, Sergeant- At- Arms. During the

         20  course of the hearing others will be joining us, but

         21  I don't think it would be fair for us to keep you

         22  waiting, seeing that you did come on time, as per

         23  usual.

         24                 So firstly, I should like to

         25  introduce and welcome to make statement, Ms. Violet
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          2  Mitchell from the Department of Youth and Community

          3  Development.  Welcome, for the record, could you re

          4  introduce yourself to us and any others who will be

          5  making statements along with you, before proceeding

          6  with your remarks?

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Thank

          8  you.  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the

          9  Committee, and invited guests.  My name is Violet

         10  Mitchell, Acting Commissioner of the Department of

         11  Youth and Community Development.  Accompanying me

         12  today, is Mr. Carlton Mitchell, Deputy Commissioner

         13  for Community Development, Ms. Ileana Carbonell, who

         14  is Executive Director of Citizenship NYC.

         15                 I'm here today to discuss with you

         16  the progress of Citizenship NYC, since we last

         17  appeared before this Committee.  As you are well

         18  aware, our Citizenship NYC Initiative was announced

         19  by the Mayor in May 1997.  It is an aggressive and

         20  comprehensive response to legislation enacted at the

         21  federal level that stood to pose dire consequences

         22  for the City and thousands of its residents. Since

         23  the beginning of the Citizenship NYC program there

         24  have been several policy changes at the federal and

         25  state level which have impacted on our target
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          2  population under this initiative.  As a result, the

          3  CNYC has had to adapt quickly to a changing

          4  landscape, in which distinct segments of the

          5  immigrant population have been impacted differently.

          6                 This has led CNYC to alter its

          7  approach in servicing its targeted population on

          8  several occasions, each time, prioritizing its

          9  efforts to help those most readily affected.  To

         10  date over 90,000 people have been reached with

         11  information about the program.

         12                 The Department of Youth and Community

         13  Development is very proud of tissue initiative.

         14  Since its inception, CNYC has proven itself to be a

         15  vital and essential program that has demonstrated

         16  excellence in providing services to the immigrant

         17  community of New York City.  We are very proud of

         18  the fact that CNYC's staff is made up of a diverse

         19  group of individuals who are largely immigrants

         20  themselves.  This helps to establish a good rapport

         21  between staff and client and most importantly

         22  establishes a role model/mentor- ship relationship

         23  that inspires clients to engage in the

         24  naturalization process.  Since its inception, CNYC

         25  through its five field offices has schedule over
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          2  27,000 appointments.  Of this figure, 15,000

          3  applications have been filed with the INS.

          4                 In our previous testimony we brought

          5  to your attention the City's concern for assisting

          6  People Residing Under the Color of the Law, PRUCOL

          7  immigrants, whose SSI eligibility was not restored

          8  by the Budget Reconciliation Act.  Early in 1998,

          9  CNYC led the City's outreach strategy for assisting

         10  SSI recipients.  As you know, these immigrants were

         11  slated to lose their SSI eligibility in October 1998

         12  unless they could prove to the Social Security

         13  Administration that they were in the United States

         14  legally.  Through this outreach effort, Citizenship

         15  NYC helped 700 people prove to the Social Security

         16  Administration that they were legally present.  New

         17  York City's outreach efforts have served successful

         18  as a model for the rest of the country.  Materials

         19  and guidance from CNYC have been requested

         20  nationwide.  Perhaps most significantly, CNYC

         21  accumulated data and provided it to Beatrice Disman,

         22  Regional Commissioner of the Social Security

         23  Administration, that denoted the figure of 2,000

         24  individuals classified under PRUCOL to be inflated.

         25  This information was shared with the Presidential
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          2  Administration and proved to be significant in her

          3  successful efforts to restore SSI eligibility to

          4  these individuals.

          5                 In our previous testimony, we talked

          6  of our expanded services to immigrant youth.  That

          7  expansion has been successful. We have made great

          8  strides in assisting individuals to gain

          9  classification under Derivative Citizenship, N- 600.

         10    Over 14,000 families were contacted during June

         11  and July 1999 to identify children who would lose

         12  Food Stamp benefits after they turn 18 years of age.

         13    Approximately 1,000 immigrant children have been

         14  provided assistance in applying for this

         15  designation, which will allow them to maintain

         16  social services benefits that would otherwise have

         17  been lost.  This focus and preemptive approach has

         18  been a trademark of CNYC, utilizing any and all

         19  vehicles to promote the best interests of the

         20  immigrant population.

         21                 We also discussed the then impending

         22  INS fee increase.  I am pleased to report that

         23  Citizenship NYC was able to meet the dramatic

         24  increase in demand for its services as a result of

         25  the fee increase in January 1999.  We stayed open
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          2  late and on weekends to help as many people as

          3  possible before the fee increase took effect.

          4  Alongside other advocates, we pressured the INS to

          5  establish a clear and fair fee waiver policy for

          6  those who are unable to afford the fee.  Since the

          7  INS released guidance on fee waivers in March 1999,

          8  CNYC has helped 30 people to apply for a waiver and

          9  we can report that all of our applicants have had

         10  their waiver granted.

         11                 CNYC continues to work

         12  collaboratively with the INS to better understand

         13  their guidelines and procedures.  Processing by the

         14  Immigration and Naturalization Service is improving.

         15    Some of our applicants whose files we sent just

         16  prior to the fee increase in January 1999 are now

         17  being called for their interviews. The

         18  naturalization backlog has been shorten from two and

         19  one- half years to one and one- half years.

         20                 CNYC has provided in- depth training

         21  to its diversified staff in order that the staff is

         22  kept up- to- date on the latest changes in

         23  immigration law.  Field staff is rotated to our

         24  central administrative office to check applications

         25  prepared in the field for quality.  By doing this,
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          2  CNYC ensures that all applications sent to the INS

          3  are problem- free.  CNYC constantly develops its

          4  staff's ability to spot and resolve problem areas in

          5  the applications.

          6                 CNYC has developed networks in the

          7  community and city- based agencies to collaborate on

          8  efforts relating to immigrants.  Relationships have

          9  been established with Queens College of the City

         10  University of New York, and its Immigrant Program,

         11  as well as maintaining inter- agency cooperation

         12  with the HRA and the Social Security Administration.

         13    In this approach CNYC has developed the

         14  relationships necessary to serve immigrants more

         15  effectively, and to also act as an ombudsman when

         16  necessary.

         17                 In May 1999, CNYC began a Direct

         18  Outreach program to provide applications assistance

         19  directly to senior centers and community- based

         20  organizations.  Through this effort, 300 people have

         21  been served via 18 organizations visited.  As part

         22  of our continuing effort to assist applicants to

         23  prepare for citizenship interviews, CNYC referred

         24  over 7,000 individuals to CBOs to receive English

         25  language and civic instructions.  CNYC has also
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          2  assisted 84 homebound individuals to apply for

          3  naturalization and has scheduled many additional

          4  homebound appointments.

          5                 National immigration advocates have

          6  said that CNYC is the most ambitious effort by a

          7  local government to assist immigrants.  I believe

          8  CNYC has been a successful project that has

          9  persevered to promote not only the interest of

         10  immigrants, but also all New Yorker's by integrating

         11  their culture, their values and through their

         12  participation in the legislative process.

         13                 In closing, I would like to thank

         14  Mayor Rudy Giuliani, Deputy Mayor Segarra, and you,

         15  Chairman Lloyd Henry, and the other members of this

         16  Committee for their support in helping to make CNYC

         17  a success, and we would be happy to answer your

         18  questions.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  All right, we do

         20  have a few questions to ask, but before we do that,

         21  we would like to invite your support staff, if they

         22  have any additional statements to make, to do so at

         23  this time?  Just to answer questions, all right.

         24                 Since its inception, has your program

         25  changed in any way in its focus or mission?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 MS. CARBONELL:  As the Commissioner

          3  stated, we have shifted our focus, and I think you

          4  knew at the time that we spoke with you that we were

          5  trying to serve the children, that was a major

          6  change in focus.  And we have actually been very

          7  lucky to obtain from HRA a list of children who

          8  would be aging out at the age of 18 to help them

          9  maintain their benefits by getting them to be

         10  citizens.  It has been a process and we have, I

         11  think, effectively put together.

         12                 The other things that we have done,

         13  is, we have tried to reach out to more people in the

         14  community to let them know that even though their

         15  benefits may not be cut today, as they reach a

         16  certain age they may not be able to take those

         17  benefits, Social Security benefits, because they are

         18  not disabled.

         19                 As you know when the legislation was

         20  passed, before it was not a problem when you reached

         21  a certain age to become eligible for Social Security

         22  benefits.  Today you have to be disabled or you know

         23  in some manner, shape or form, be taken, you know,

         24  not able to work and so forth.

         25                 If you become a citizen then that is
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          2  not a concern, and we have been going out there to

          3  get these people to understand that.  So, it's been,

          4  I think, a tremendous amount of outreach at this

          5  part, even though our focus is still critical to

          6  those who are losing their benefits, it is still

          7  trying to make the population aware that it is best

          8  to become citizens, and that is really where our

          9  reach efforts have become at this time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Yes, in your

         11  statement, Commissioner, you said that, on page 2,

         12  that you had established a good rapport between

         13  staff and client, and there was, you had established

         14  a role model and mentor- ship relationship that

         15  inspires clients to engage in their naturalization

         16  process.  Given all that, has there been recent

         17  changes in your staffing, your various centers, and

         18  how many centers were opened or closed during the

         19  interim since the last hearing?

         20                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Ileana

         21  will answer this, but I think that since the last

         22  hearing we still have the same number of centers,

         23  five.  And in terms of staffing, we - -

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  I'm sorry, those

         25  are how many, seven?  I think it is somewhere in
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          2  your statement.

          3                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  I'm

          4  sorry?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  What is the

          6  number of centers?

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Five.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Five.

          9                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Could you, for

         11  the record, again, state where these centers are

         12  located?

         13                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Yes, I

         14  will let Ileana, she can name all of them, I can't.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Good.

         16                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes, we have five

         17  centers.  We have two in Brooklyn, one in the Kings

         18  County Hospital, the other one is in Sheepshead Bay,

         19  it's inside, actually, the Department of Labor,

         20  Unemployment Insurance Building, we're sharing space

         21  there with them.  We have a center in Elmhurst, at

         22  the Elmhurst Center Hospital site.  We have a center

         23  in Morris, which is part of, I think, the Morris

         24  Senior Center.  We have one in Fort Washington,

         25  also, in the Armory, it's been there in the Armory.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  I think those are the five.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  I think that your

          4  last, at the last hearing you did mention that you

          5  were contemplating opening a center in Staten

          6  Island?

          7                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes.  We actually

          8  have opened what we consider a satellite office, we

          9  visit the center twice a month on the first and

         10  third Wednesdays.  The center is located at

         11  Naomonkey (phonetic) Street, it's in Borough Hall,

         12  itself, Staten Island.   We also have, we visit Far

         13  Rockaway on the last Tuesday of the month and on the

         14  first Tuesday of the month.  The center in Far

         15  Rockaway is in Jassa, one is in Jassa, and the other

         16  one is in the Jewish Community Center, we will give

         17  you the addresses, if you wish.  But, yes, we have

         18  opened it, so basically what we do is we send staff,

         19  we haven't hired additional staff, it's the same

         20  staff that goes out to the centers, and we do this,

         21  again, Far Rockaway twice a month and Staten Island

         22  twice a month.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  In terms of the

         24  number of applicants that are being processed, how

         25  would you grade these centers, is it the Brooklyn
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          2  one, Kings County Hospital Center the one where you

          3  experience the greatest volume?

          4                 MS. CARBONELL:  The greatest volume,

          5  I think since the beginning of the program actually,

          6  have been in two centers, one is the Sheepshead Bay

          7  Center, has always been extremely busy, and the

          8  Elmhurst Center has always been extremely busy.

          9  Those two are the busiest of our centers.

         10                 The other centers have a lot of walk-

         11  ins, especially the Fort Washington Center.  The

         12  Fort Washington Center because of its location has a

         13  tremendous amount of people walking into the

         14  centers.

         15                 The Kings County Center, which I

         16  think you know is located in the Kings County

         17  Hospital inside a parking lot, doesn't have as many

         18  walk- ins, they rely more on appointments.  And the

         19  Morris Center, again, relies on appointments.

         20                 But to answer your question the two

         21  largest, most active centers are Elmhurst and

         22  Sheepshead Bay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Could you give us

         24  some of idea as to whether the leadership and staff

         25  of these centers do reflect the nature or the
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          2  immigrant population?

          3                 MS. CARBONELL:  Well the composition

          4  of each center very much reflects the community,

          5  very much so.  Elmhurst being probably the most

          6  diverse community, we there speak between 10 to 12

          7  different languages in Elmhurst among the staff and

          8  the manager.             We have, also, the

          9  Sheepshead Bay Center has a very large proportion of

         10  Russians coming into the centers, so our staff has a

         11  large population of Russians.  We also have people

         12  who speak Chinese there, people who speak Spanish

         13  there, and they come into the center, Haitian is

         14  spoken there, as well.

         15                 We have in Kings County, again, that

         16  is more of a Caribbean population there, so we have

         17  people who speak Haitian, English, obviously, they

         18  speak also Spanish, and we have actually put in some

         19  Russians in Kings County.  That cannot, by the way,

         20  as a result of the fee increase, if you recall there

         21  was a tremendous amount of people wanted to come

         22  into our centers and the Russian population in

         23  Brooklyn, there was a population near to Kings

         24  County, so we had two people there who speak Russian

         25  to be able to adhere to that population as well.
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          2  But we try to be very much part of a population and

          3  speak the languages that the community speaks.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  For the record,

          5  could you, you know, tell us why there was a need

          6  for a fee increase?

          7                 MS. CARBONELL:  Okay, the INS, the

          8  tremendous amount of backlog was one of the critical

          9  issues and the way that they wanted to resolve it, I

         10  think that was the major reason for the fee

         11  increase, to be able to resolve the tremendous

         12  amount of backlog that they had.  Also they made a

         13  study to find out how much it would cost the INS to

         14  process all of these people, and the fee, the $95

         15  was in place for such a long period of time, that it

         16  did not reflect reality.  So the study was that they

         17  needed to increase it to $225.

         18                 If you recall at the time, the City

         19  was concerned and all of us were concerned because

         20  of this tremendous increase, and our worry about

         21  people not being able to meet the fee increase, and

         22  we also worried about how the money was going to be

         23  utilized, you know, make sure that it was used for

         24  citizenship purposes, not other purposes in the

         25  immigration, you know, services.  And we were very
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          2  adamant about what are they going to do about people

          3  who do not, are not able to pay the fee, they're too

          4  poor to pay the fee? And a lot of our efforts really

          5  pair out in the sense that the INS have now written

          6  very clear procedures on how to go about doing that.

          7    And we have taken full advantage of it and put

          8  some people through the process and their fee

          9  waivers have been granted.

         10                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  And we

         11  don't charge a fee, so these fees that we're talking

         12  about are INS fees.

         13                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Yes, but if the

         15  fee, the increase in fee did result in an increase

         16  in staffing?

         17                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes, it did.  They

         18  increased the staff.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  The ability to

         20  process more applicants.

         21                 MS. CARBONELL:  The whole concern was

         22  to clean up the backlog by hiring additional staff

         23  and opening more resources. Also the fingerprinting

         24  is now done differently, so they really sort of were

         25  more concerned about doing the services to
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          2  participants in a more timely fashion, that was what

          3  it was all about, and yes, they did that by hiring

          4  staff and doing services a little bit differently.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  We have been

          6  joined by my colleague, Council Member John Sabini,

          7  welcome.

          8                 Mr. Smith has a question to ask.

          9                 MR. SMITH:  I wanted some further

         10  clarification on the fees and the fee increase for

         11  the record, is there an anticipated, is there

         12  another fee increase in the wings at all, or is that

         13  pretty much set, it's going to be $225 and that is

         14  it?

         15                 MS. CARBONELL:  Two hundred twenty-

         16  five is what we know, we know nothing has been

         17  anticipated to increase.

         18                 MR. SMITH:  Okay.

         19                 MS. CARBONELL:  We haven't heard

         20  none.

         21                 MR. SMITH:  On the issue of the

         22  backlog in applications, now you note in your

         23  statement that that backlog has been cut from two

         24  and one- half years to one and one- half years, but

         25  the fact of the matter is there is still a backlog.
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          2  Is there any effort, what are the efforts that are

          3  ongoing to eliminate the backlog totally?

          4                 MS. CARBONELL:  All right, let me,

          5  Karen from my staff, Karen Fleshman is our

          6  representative, she goes to Washington once a month

          7  and speaks to the INS, so she probably has the most

          8  updated information on that, so let me ask her to

          9  answer that question.

         10                 MR. SMITH:  All right, bring her up.

         11                 MS. FLESHMAN:  Well, the backlog in

         12  naturalization- -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  For the record,

         14  could you identify yourself?

         15                 MS. FLESHMAN:  Okay, I'm Karen

         16  Fleshman.  I'm Director for Community Outreach for

         17  Citizenship New York City.

         18                 The backlog in for hindered

         19  processing at the INS was the result of a confluence

         20  of factors.  I mean, I think, as soon as the anti-

         21  immigrant xenophobia started up in California, you

         22  saw a sharp increase in the number of naturalization

         23  applications that was a dramatic increase from prior

         24  receipts that kind of took the immigration service

         25  by surprise.  There system for receiving those
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          2  applications was not up- to- date technologically,

          3  and in fact, was in some cases not even standardized

          4  on a national level, each district office apparently

          5  had its own procedures for how they processed these

          6  applications.

          7                 So what the INS Headquarters has

          8  done, has been a dramatic redesign of the

          9  naturalization processing system, and unfortunately

         10  for applicants who applied in '96 or '97, before

         11  that redesign went into place, many of them are

         12  still in some bureaucratic nightmare, it is very

         13  difficult for them to get their cases going through.

         14    But what we have noticed is that since their new

         15  computer system, their new direct mail program has

         16  gone into place, where now all applications are sent

         17  to Vermont and then they're imputing into the new

         18  INS National Scheduling System, it is functioning

         19  much better than their previous system, as well as

         20  with the INS taking the fingerprints, and that was

         21  also a major snafu that many applicants experienced,

         22  is that, the organizations that had taken their

         23  fingerprints, somehow the prints didn't come out

         24  correctly.  And when initially the Congress moved to

         25  take away organizations ability to give the prints,
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          2  you know, I was very upset by that, because I said,

          3  oh my God, another thing that the INS is going to

          4  mess up.  But, indeed, I think that since they have

          5  taken on the fingerprint responsibility, the service

          6  has actually improved to the applicants and people

          7  are experiencing fewer difficulties with their

          8  application.

          9                 MR. SMITH:  So you're saying that

         10  those who applied in '96 and '97 were caught up in

         11  some type of bureaucratic nightmare or some type of

         12  mixup.  Whereby those who applied after that date

         13  are actually getting their applications processed

         14  before those.

         15                 MS. FLESHMAN:  Unfortunately.

         16                 MR. SMITH:  That is simply not fair,

         17  I mean, it's obviously, it's not - -

         18                 MS. FLESHMAN:  Yes, it's very, very

         19  unfair.

         20                 MR. SMITH: - -  it's not the right

         21  way to do business.

         22                 MS. FLESHMAN:  Yes, but,

         23  unfortunately, we aren't responsible for resolving

         24  that problem.

         25                 MR. SMITH:  I understand that, but
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          2  you're working with them to try to facilitate the

          3  process.  You know, what are they saying, are they

          4  saying anything in terms of dealing with those

          5  people, or what?

          6                 MS. FLESHMAN:  The District Office

          7  here in New York, I can't remember the number of

          8  hundreds of thousands of applications that were

          9  caught in that situation, and they tried various

         10  ways to apply their new technology to these

         11  applications and they were essentially unable to do

         12  it, so what they decided to do is hand process them

         13  without using this new computer technology. And,

         14  they have, I can't remember the exact figures, but

         15  District Director Edward McEroy, last week came up,

         16  he is actually going to be able to process more this

         17  quarter than he had initially projected that he

         18  would be able to because they're just moving through

         19  them by hand as quickly as they can.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Council Member

         21  Sabini.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman, and thank you for extending courtesy

         24  to myself, I'm not a member of the Subcommittee, but

         25  as representing a district with the most immigrants
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          2  in the City and the most diverse population in the

          3  City, I was interested in your panel's work.  I'm

          4  interested to find out, is there a break down of the

          5  client or caseload per office that you serve, and

          6  can you provide that to us?

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  We are

          8  not prepared to give it to you today, but we do have

          9  the data on the clients and messengers, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  I'm very

         11  interested in how it breaks out by office because

         12  certainly in areas like mine the outreach, because

         13  of the diversity is very tough.  Unlike, say

         14  Washington Heights where everyone is probably from

         15  more or less the same country, and certainly they

         16  all speak the same language in neighborhoods like

         17  Elmhurst, we don't have that, in fact, you have

         18  dozens of languages spoken and you know over 100

         19  nationalities spoken for.  So the outreach becomes

         20  very, very tough, and yet the problem is probably

         21  more acute there than it is anywhere, and I'm very

         22  interested to see, I know you have an office out

         23  there, and to see the kind of numbers that you put

         24  out.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Ms. Carbonell,

          3  you alluded earlier to a waiver policy that you have

          4  in place, could you expand on that, for the record,

          5  what makes one eligible for a waiver?

          6                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  In terms of maybe

          8  income, or what have you or whatever entities are

          9  involved?

         10                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes, the INS, the

         11  guidelines from the INS is to provide information

         12  about the income, and we have to submit forms that

         13  are already, you know, part of this application for

         14  fee waiver, and also we attach to them the whole

         15  budget.  For example, many of the people that have

         16  been granted this fee increase are people who are

         17  currently on welfare, so we provide the budget from

         18  HRA, we provide records of, you know, any savings

         19  that they have, everything and anything that proves

         20  to them that there is no way that they can pay for

         21  this fee increase, I mean, for this fee for

         22  themselves or for their families.

         23                 Also the way that we do it, if it is

         24  going to be a husband and wife, husband, wife and

         25  children together, we put the whole package together
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          2  for them to realize what the dollar amount is going

          3  to be if you add everybody's, you know, to 25,

          4  husband to the children and so forth, tremendous

          5  amount of money, so we are able to package it

          6  together as a family, we send it in.

          7                 And, again, to answer your question

          8  it is budget related, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  More or less, off

         10  the top of your head, how many persons have been

         11  processed thus far who fall into this category?

         12                 MS. CARBONELL:  Okay, right now when,

         13  30 people, so far, have come to us and asked to

         14  review their cases because they could not afford it.

         15    We have sent all 30 of them to the INS, and as far

         16  as we know, because it is a 30 day turnaround, they

         17  do quickly answer them, we are able to by calling

         18  them to find out if they have heard from the INS,

         19  and so far everyone has heard in a positive manner.

         20  So they have all been granted so far.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  By 30 people, are

         22  you referring to 30 individuals, or 30 heads of

         23  households?

         24                 MS. CARBONELL:  Thirty individuals.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Thirty
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          2  individuals, yes.  Given your experience and all of

          3  that on your budget, how much longer is your program

          4  slated to be in existence, do you have any target

          5  date, or is it an ongoing program that will be

          6  funded each year?

          7                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  It's

          8  an ongoing program that is funded each year, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  What will be,

         10  say, your recommendation in terms of funding, will

         11  you be applying for an increase in funding, may be

         12  given an increase in volume of persons that need to

         13  be processed?

         14                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Prior

         15  to our going to request funding for the program we

         16  take a look at a number of people served, the

         17  staffing and our needs, and then make that

         18  presentation.  So we haven't done that yet, so it is

         19  hard for me to say whether or not we will be looking

         20  for additional money or what have you.  But we sit

         21  down and take a look at the entire program and

         22  determine what our needs are.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Seeing that your

         24  target is actually, or your goal is actually

         25  Citizenship USA, what sort of tracking system do you
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          2  have in place in order to, you know, take one from a

          3  given point to that point of, you know, completion,

          4  in order to reach that goal of citizenship?

          5                 MS. CARBONELL:  We send to, we keep

          6  track of everybody, we keep track, we have a

          7  database where we keep track of everyone.  When we

          8  send applications to the INS, and we do that on a

          9  weekly basis, we send boxes of applications, so

         10  forth, we make a list and then periodically we send

         11  the list to the INS to request information on the

         12  applicants.  Most of the time we hear from the

         13  applicants themselves.  We haven't had really any

         14  feedback, official feedback from the INS on those

         15  people who we have sent information on.  So our

         16  information and the records that we have here are

         17  really from applicants that we have called or that

         18  called us, very excited that they have, you know,

         19  they have taken the oath and so forth.  So that is

         20  how we track them, we track them in our system

         21  through every step of the way, because we have a

         22  very good database, you know, from appointment to

         23  where they kept the appointment, where we send

         24  letters, when the application was filled, when the

         25  applications was sent to the INS, all the way
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          2  through that is in our system, there is no problem

          3  giving that information, but once, to find out

          4  whether or not they have become citizens, that is

          5  really up to the INS in telling us, and that hasn't

          6  really come forward to us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:   What are the

          8  basic languages that are used in the application or

          9  whatever communication you have?

         10                 MS. CARBONELL:  Well in our centers

         11  we speak between 12 to 15 different languages, and

         12  actually when Council Member Sabini was here talking

         13  about Elmhurst, we do have brochures that we're very

         14  happy to share to with you, if you want to see them,

         15  in all those languages, and at least 10 different

         16  languages, and that is how we communicate to our

         17  community, and we send the brochures out.  We have

         18  them displayed in our centers, we actually go to the

         19  different libraries and leave those brochures out

         20  there, the Social Security Administration displays

         21  our brochures, HRA displays our brochures, that is

         22  how we do all these.  And the communication between

         23  us and our clients when we sent a letter to remind

         24  them of the appointment, it is sent in their own

         25  language, the letter is printed in their own
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          2  language.  When they come into the center we pair

          3  them with someone who speaks their language.  So,

          4  you know, we try to do that as much as we can, and I

          5  think we are pretty successful on that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Yes, you did

          7  mention, a while ago, that there are certain, you

          8  know, groups that display your brochures, so that

          9  brings us to our next logical point, what extent

         10  have you been utilizing the help or assistance from

         11  community- based organizations given all what they

         12  have been doing over the years, as there been any

         13  sort of duplication going on, and you know,

         14  basically to what extent have you been including

         15  them in this process?

         16                 MS. CARBONELL:  I think we include

         17  them in the process, well, first of all, we include

         18  them definitely because we send our applicants to

         19  the community- based organizations from CYDC for ESL

         20  and for civic and legal assistance, so that is an

         21  ongoing relationship that we have had from the very

         22  beginning of the program.  Community- based

         23  organizations in the various communities, they know

         24  what we do, and they help us as well as we help them

         25  in advertising our services.  I think there are
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          2  other community groups in a variety of areas, for

          3  example, we have implemented a direct outreach

          4  program, which I think is mentioned here in the

          5  testimony. The idea there, which we started

          6  implementing a few months ago and it has been very

          7  successful, we would like to continue to do this

          8  with other communities, is that we try to go to

          9  leaders of those communities, meet with them, sit

         10  down with them, have a conversation about what we

         11  do, the benefits of citizenship, and then they will

         12  talk to their membership so that - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  I'm sorry to

         14  interrupt, here you are referring to churches,

         15  synagogues, those that have captive audiences?

         16                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes, with referred to

         17  that, but we also have worked with, I know we work

         18  with Councilwoman Una Clarke in her community, and

         19  actually she has been very, very helpful to us,

         20  tremendously so, in trying to attract the Caribbean

         21  community to our Kings County Center, and we would

         22  love to continue that relationship, you know, that

         23  has been very fruitful to us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  To what extent

         25  have you succeeded in reaching out to the homebound,
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          2  disabled immigrants?

          3                 MS. CARBONELL:  We have, yes, the

          4  calls come in through our phone bank, and we ask the

          5  person, you know, are you able to come into our

          6  centers, and that is how it all begins.  And if they

          7  are unable to come to our center because they're

          8  homebound, we send people out to them, and that has

          9  been a very successful program.  We have, so far,

         10  able to assist 849 people to date on that.

         11                 And, also, the most important part is

         12  that that carries onto the INS.  In other words, if

         13  we have a homebound participant, we make homebound

         14  appointments for the INS, and as far as I know,

         15  every single person that we have asked the INS to do

         16  a homebound interview, they have done it, and they

         17  have been very good about that as well.  So, yes, I

         18  think that has also been a successful program.

         19                 MR. SMITH:  This issue is not the

         20  focus of the hearing, however, since we have the

         21  Commissioner here, perhaps we may want to get some

         22  comments on this issue as well.  There have been

         23  recent billboards put up throughout the City by a

         24  group by the name of Project USA, and they're very

         25  anti- immigrant in sentiment. What is the Department
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          2  doing in regards to that, are you taking any steps,

          3  what is your stance with that, those billboards?

          4                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  We

          5  have actually not taken any stance or have had any

          6  involvement with them to date. And, you know, I

          7  think that we have a unique program and that program

          8  speaks to the kind of services that we're providing

          9  for the immigrant community.

         10                 MR. SMITH:  Right, but obviously

         11  those billboards are very anti- immigrant, and that

         12  your an agency that is pro immigrant, obviously, I

         13  can tell you that the City Council passed a

         14  resolution condemning Project USA and the billboards

         15  that they put up throughout the City.  And so I just

         16  think that it is something that needs to be looked

         17  at, you know, perhaps as an agency.

         18                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  I don't think

         20  this is an area of your purview, but maybe concern

         21  in that within the next few months quite a number of

         22  people nationwide, I think some 660,000 residents

         23  are legal immigrants would have to reapply to change

         24  their green cards.  Do you have any coming to make

         25  in this respect?
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          2                 MS. CARBONELL:  Our stance on that is

          3  to encourage those individuals to apply to

          4  naturalization, unless they are planning on

          5  traveling or changing jobs and they would need a

          6  valid green card to demonstrate their eligibility to

          7  work.  I think it is more advantageous for them to

          8  apply for naturalization than to initiate a

          9  reapplication to renew the green card.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Yes, but it

         11  compounds the whole, you know, process of lessening,

         12  taking care of the backlog.  In addition to the

         13  backlog within a certain time these people who are,

         14  you know, legal immigrants will have to change their

         15  status, to what extent would you say the INS is

         16  prepared to deal with it because it would further

         17  delay the processing of people who are already in

         18  the pipeline?

         19                 MS. CARBONELL:  INS actually is, has

         20  established a plan for how they are going to deal

         21  with this influx of people, and they're planning on

         22  using the application support centers, which is

         23  where they're conducting the fingerprints now to

         24  handle the intake process on those applications to

         25  replace green cards.  But what the advocates really
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          2  pressure them to do, was to come out and give

          3  guidance to their enforcement side, that if they got

          4  somebody, you know, in a raid or something who had

          5  an expired green card that that person would not

          6  experience an enforcement consequence from that,

          7  because it seems that it is INS's own failure to

          8  process these cards in a timely manner that is

          9  resulting in people's inability to document their

         10  current status.

         11                 So, like I said, unless the applicant

         12  is planning on traveling or changing jobs, we think

         13  it is most advisable that they just applied to

         14  naturalize so that way they only initiate one thing

         15  for the INS to process, as opposed to two.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Because by its

         17  own admission then, INS has said that it will take,

         18  you know, at least a year for it to be processed.

         19  To what extent would hamper the ability of one to

         20  travel or to continue working in the country.

         21                 MS. CARBONELL:  Well, they can,

         22  remember that just because your green card expired

         23  doesn't mean your immigration status expired, and

         24  people can walk into 26 Federal Plaza and get a

         25  stamp in their passport.  It doesn't matter even if
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          2  it is an expired passport, they will stamp and

          3  expired passport that would indicate the person's

          4  legal presence and authorization to work in the

          5  United States.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Realize that

          7  there is a lot of fail there, I don't see the

          8  average, you know, person in that, you know,

          9  category going to 26 Federal Plaza with an expired

         10  passport, that person is in limbo and in fear of

         11  being deported.

         12                 MS. CARBONELL:  Well they shouldn't,

         13  I mean we should try to calm those fears, because

         14  like I said, as we argue time and again on that

         15  PRUCOL Project, if the persons documents is expired,

         16  doesn't mean that their status expired.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  All right, again,

         18  for the record, could you outline to us the process

         19  through which one goes to processing or reapplying

         20  for the green card status.

         21                 MS. CARBONELL:  All right, from what

         22  I understand, this is not really my field, yes, it's

         23  not what we do, but I think they go to 26 Federal

         24  Plaza with their photographs and their I- 90 form,

         25  and their money order and their passport.  They get
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          2  a stamp in the passport that says that they're

          3  temporary, no, it's temporary proof, temporary

          4  evidence of lawful admission for permanent residence

          5  that is stamped in the passport, and then they send,

          6  the application is sent to one of the INS's Service

          7  Centers. At the Service Center they make the

          8  adjudicative decision.  Oh, I forgot one thing, also

          9  they have to do the fingerprints, because, again,

         10  they're going to do an FBI check on those people.

         11                 At the Service Centers they make the

         12  adjudicative decision on whether or not to renew

         13  this person's green card, and then they send them,

         14  the person, the green card through the mail.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  So it is not an

         16  automatic process that one goes through, because it

         17  was my understanding that all one has to do was to

         18  complete the I-90 form, send a check or money order

         19  for $110, send an imprint of the front and back, you

         20  know, parts of the present green card, and, you

         21  know, post everything to 26 Federal Plaza, that was

         22  my understanding.  I didn't know that coupled with

         23  that there would be a need for fingerprinting.

         24                 MS. CARBONELL:  Yes, what I'm saying

         25  is that if they go with the passport, then they will
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          2  be able to get the stamp then that would service

          3  temporary proof until such time as they receive the

          4  green card.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  There are no

          6  further questions, so I should like, again, to thank

          7  you for your testimonies and also for, you know, the

          8  assistance that you, the help and the work that you

          9  have been doing in this respect, which is quite

         10  invaluable, and we, over the past few years, we have

         11  worked quite collegiately with the Administration.

         12                 Al, welcome, nice seeing you, he is a

         13  friend of the Committee, and I should like for you

         14  to convey to the Mayor, appreciation for the work

         15  that he has been doing in this respect and I look

         16  forward to further, you know, working together.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 ACTING COMMISSIONER MITCHELL:  Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HENRY:  Are there any

         21  more testimonies?

         22                 If not, this meeting is adjourned.

         23  Thank you, again.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 10:50 a.m.)

         25
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